‘IN THE MATTER OF * BEFORE THE

BEHROOZ GOODARZI, P.D.  * MARYLAND STATE
LICENSE NO. 10724 * BOARD OF PHARMACY
RESPONDENT | *

%* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

ORDER FOR SUMMARY SUSPENSION OF PHARMACIST’S LICENSE

Backeround

On April 6, 1999, the Maryland State Board of Pharmacy (the “Board”) issued a notice of
intent to summarily suspend the pharmacist’ license held by Behrooz Goodarzi, P.D., License No.
10724 (the “Respondent”). The Respondent was given an opportunity for a hearing to show cause
as to wfly the Board should not issue an unexecuted order that would have suspended his
pharmacist’s license due to the imminent threat‘ to the public health created by dangerous practices
at the pharmacy. (See the Board’ unexecuted order attached as Exhibit #1 hereto and incorporated
by reference herein). A show cause hearing before a panel of the Board was held on April 1'3’ 1999.
This show cause hearing was limited to oral argument, direct examination of the Respondent, and
an examination of the inventory prepared by the Division of Drug Control inspector, C. Putz, based
upon her observations of the Pharmacy on March 24, 1999 and March 30, 1999.

FINDINGS OF FACT BASED ON PROBABLE CAUSE

Based‘upon the investigation and the show cause hearing, the Board has reason to believe
there exists probable cause that the following facts are true:

1. At all times relevant, the Respondent was licensed as a pharmacist in the State of
Maryland.

2. At all times relevant, the Respondent operated a pharmacy known as Melwood Pharmacy
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" at 9644 Marlboro Pike, Upper Marlboro, Maryland 20072 (the “Pharmacy”).

3. Acting on a complaint that expired drugs had been dispensed at the Pharmacy, the
Division of Drug Control performed an inspéction on March 24, 1999, at the Melwood Phazm’aby.
A‘foilow-up inspection was performed on March 30, 1999.

.4. Upon inspection; the following was found:
a) Liquid medications were stored in soda bottles;
b) There were numerous products without lot number or expiration dates.
c) There were over 525 outdated products;
d) The Respondent was not aware that he should destroy outdated CDS, and DEA
form 41 was provided to him;
e) There were expiration dates and lot numbers covered by the price stickers;
f) Loose pills were found on the shelves;

g) The outdated products date as far back as 1987.

5. The following is a list of outdated products by category!, found at the Pharmacy on March
24 through '30, 1999: electrolyte supplements, anti-psychotics, anti-hypertensive, antibiotics,
antitussives, Aantihistarnines, acid blockers, circulation medications, Antibuse, pain relievers,
Alzheimer management medications, tranquilizers, diuretics, prenatal vitamins, medications for the
contro] of obséssive compulsive disorders, anti-inflammatory creams, steroidals, antigout products,

acne lotion, saliva substitute, progesterone, antibiotic acne liquid, aspirin/codeine products,

! Attached as part of Exhibit # 1 and incorporated by reference herein is the

inventory of March 24, 1999, and March 30, 1999, prepared by C. Putz of the Division of Drug
Control and signed by Respondent.
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.antivirals. calcium channel blockers. pain relievers. expectorants. enemas. anti-inflammatory
medications. sleep aids. pediculacide. UTI medications. vitamins. urinafy antiseptics. antinausea.
anti-ulcer, mobility agents, anticoagulants. thyroid supplements. anti-dep:essanté, muscle relaxants.
ttlberéulosis drugs. antiarrhythmic heart medications. antidiabetics, asthma medications. oral
contraceptives. ear anti-infectives. potassium supplements. anti-miasthenics. antiseizure products.
bulk hormones for compounding. laxatives. Schedule AIH: cough suppressant/expectorants. Schedule
11 pain relievers. Schedule [V tranquilizers. and Doral. a Schedule [V sedative. In addition to the
above. these categories of pediatric specific medications were found: expectorant/decongestants.
numerous antibiotics. cough/cold preparations. asthma and pain relievers. A bottle of
Diethylstilbesterol. with an expiration date of May. 1994 was also found on the shelf of the
Pharmacy. Diethylstibesterol is no longer on the market.

6. At the show cause hearing the Respondent defended his practice of putting liquid
medications such as Zyrtec svrup into soda bottles despite the risk of contamination. His continued
insistence in defense of this practice demonstrates incompetence and disregard for the public health
and safety.

7. At the show cause hearing the Respondent claimed that he never had a chance to get rid
of the outdated drugs and admitted that he had no system to flag outdated drugs. At the hearing he
claimed that he has changed his practices since the inspection so that on each day he now pulls all
outdated drugs off the shelves. He further stated that he now keeps his containers upside down when

.

they are drawing near to the expiration date.

- Some of the products previously listed are scheduled drugs.
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8. At the show cause hearing the Respondent claimed there.were only 362 bottles of
outdated products rather than 523. He admitted that “maybe” some of these outdated products had
been on the shelf. The Board finds that it is most likely that' fnany of these bottles were on fhe
shelves and contained outdated drugs as reported by the inspector. Furthermore. there is absolutely

.no legitimate reason to haﬁe these quantities of outdated products in the store. Outdated |
phaﬁnaceutical products can cause substantial harm to patients and the Board finds that there was
no valid reason to possess these products in such numerous quantities and for such long periods of
time. To possess these numerous quantities of outdated pharmaceutical products either shows
extreme incompetence or an intent to dispense these outdated products. In either event. emergency
action is required to protect the public.’

9. Because the Respondent is practicing pharmacy in an incompetent manner that exposes
the public to the grave dangefs of outdated. mislabeled. and contaminated drugs. the Board finds that
emergency action is necessary to protect the public health. safety. and welfare.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact Based on Probable Cause. the Board finds that
the public health. safety and welfare imperatively requires emergency action pursuant to Md. Code

Ann.. State Gov't Art.. § 10-226(c)(1).

The Board is especially troubled by the presence of such outdated products as
pediatric medications. antibiotics. anti-hypertensives. antiarrhythmic heart medications. anti-
psychotics. antivirals. progesterone. oral contraceptives. thyroid supplements. tuberculosis drugs.
and medications used to control obsessive-compulsive disorders.




ORDER

Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact Based on Probable Cause. itis this __ day of

. 1999. by a majority of the quorum of the Board. hereBy

ORDERED that the Respondent’s pharmacist’s license be summarily suspended pufsuant
to Md. Code Ann.. State Gév't Art.. §10-226(c). And be it further |

ORDERED that this a FINAL ORDER and as such is a public document pursuant to
§ 10-611 er seq. of the State Government Article. Annotated Code of Marvland. And be it further

ORDERED that this Order for Summary Suspension of Pharmacist’s License and the same
is hereby effective on the day it is signed. Aﬁd be it further

ORDERED that the Respondent' shall submit the displav and renewal certificates issued for

license no. 10724 to the Board's offices.

_4f3)57 o e T\
Date W. Irving Lotfier. Jr. P.D. ,
Secretary. Board of Pharmacy
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"IN THE MATTER OF * BEFORE THE

BEHROOZ GOODARZ], P.D. * MARYLAND STATE
LICENSE NO. 10724 * BOARD OF PHARMACY
RESPONDENT *

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

BOARD’S RULING ON RESPONSE
TO CHARGES AND MOTION TO DISMISS

For the reasons set forth below, the Board denies the Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss
Summary Suspension Hearing.

The Board does not need to address the Respondent’s claims regarding the fact that he failed
to possess a copy of the CDS Biennial Inventory and that he failed to record the names of generic
manufacturer on prescriptions because the Board does not believe that these potential violations rise
to the level of an imminent threat to the public health and safety. For the same reasons, the Board
will not address the Respondent’s claims regarding the plastic bag of controlled dangerous
substances or the presence of sample drugs in the Pharmacy. The Board notes, however, that the
Respondent should have kept a copy of the Biennial Inventory even if a copy of that Biennial
Inventory had previously been requested by the Division of Drug Control as he claims.

At the show cause hearing and in his motion to dismiss, the Respondent disputed the amount
of outdated produ;:ts in his pharmacy, claiming that there were only 362, not 525, and claiming that
the products on the pharmgcy were empty and only used as reference points for organization
purposes. He further claimed that most of the outdated drugs were stored separately in a box on the
bottom of the pharmacy shelves. However, when questioned at the show cause hearing, he also

admitted that “maybe” some of these outdated products were on the shelf. He insisted he did not use




these outdated products but that he “never had a chance to get rid” of them. He also admitted that
he had no system to flag outdated products. -In his motion to dismiss, the Respondent admits that
some of the outdated products may have dated back as far as 1987. |

The Board finds ie ‘completely unbelievable that the Respondent would keep fhis many
outdated products for years without intending to dispense them to customers. The Board, in the
exercise of its profeéeional expertise finds that there is absolutely no legitimate reason under even
minimal standards of pharmacy care for the Respondent to keep this many outdated prescription
products in the pharmacy for such extended periods of time. Thus, the Respondent is either
incompetent in the removal and disposal of outdated pharmaceuticals or he has been dispensing these
outdated pharmaceuticals to patients. In either event, the Board, in the exercise of its professional
expertise, finds that the public health is threatened by the Respondent’s continued practice of
pharmacy and emergency aceion is necessary to protect the public health and safety.

.In his motion to dismiss, the Respondent stated his belief that the inspectors’ listing of
outdated products is not accurate, which outdated products have been placed under seal and detained
by the Division of Drug Control under authority of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, Md. Code
Ann., H‘ealth-General Art., §21-253, regarding the detainment of suspected adulterated or
misbranded drugs. The Board believes that it is more likely than not that the inspectors of the
Division of Drug Control would list the outdated pharmaceutical products accurately and would only
detain them if they were in an adulterated condition such as being outdated. See Health-General
Art., §21-216(b) (1) (“A drug or device is adulterated if any part of it is a filthy, putrid or
decomposed substance.”). Given that the Respondent has also admitted to the presence of 362
outdated pharmaceutical products, the Board finds that there is probable cause to believe that at least.
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" this quantity of products were outdated.

In his motion to dismiss, the Respoﬁdent also admitted to having several small containers
with price stickers covering the expiration dates and lot number;c,, though he claimed they were eé.%ily
removable. The Board ﬁnd this practice to be simply unacceptable

The Respondent also splits hairs by offering a tortured definition of “pill” in a desperate
effort to rebut the inspector’s simple observation that loose pills were found on the Respondent’s
shelf. The Board believes that is likely that the inspector saw loose pills or tablets or capsules on
the Respondent’s shelf, the exact terminology used being wholly irrelevant to the controlling issue
of whether the Respondent takes care to prevent contamination of his pharmaceutical products. The
Respondent’s vigorous defense of his unsanitary practice of the use of soda bottles to store liquid
medications shows that his credibility must be seriously questioned regarding such matters.

Finally, in his motioﬁ to dismiss the Respondent claims that his due process rights have been
violated because he claims he was not given fair notice of the statutes and regulations he is accused
of violating. This argument ignores the fact that the Board’s unexecuted summary suspension order
set forth in détail the alleged facts and cited the controlling statutes. These alleged facts raised issues
of incornpetenée and an imminent threat to the public health. The statutes that authorize the Board’s
summary suspension of the Respondent’s license in response to such facts were cited in the
unexecuted order, namely Md. Code Ann., State Gov’t Art., §10-226(c) (stating that a licensing unit
may order summarily the suspension of a license if the unit finds that the public health, safety, or
| welfare imperatively requires emergency action), and Md. Code Ann., Health Occ. Art., §12-313(20)
(stating that a pharmacist may be disciplined if he is professionally, physically, or mentally

incompetent).




The process given in this case was appropriate given the potential threat to the public health
and the consequent need for quick action by the Board to protect the public health. “As has often
been stated, ‘[d]ue process does not require adherence to any paﬁicular procedﬁre. On the co;itfary,
due process is flexible and éalls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demar}ds. ”
Maryland Racing Commission v. Castrenze, 335 Md-. 284, 299 (1994) (citations omitted here). The
Castrenze upheld the summary suspénsion of a license prior to giving the licensee an opportunity
to be heard. An important factor for the Castrenze court was the scope of the issues to be resolved
at the hearing. Id., 335 Md. at 300. The scope of the issues here was limited to whether the
observations recorded in the Division of Drug Control inspection report constituted probable cause
that the public health, safety, and welfare imperatively required emergency action. That issue was
cvlearly stated in the original written notice to the Respondent. Thus, he was notified as to the
relevant factual and legal issﬁes so that he could prepare a defense.

The Castrenze court also held that another important factor to consider is the balancing of
the government’s interest against the licensee’s interest. /d., 335 Md. At 300. In this case, the
Board’s interést in avoiding delay in protecting the health and welfare of Maryland’s citizens clearly
outweighs the -Respondent’s more limited property interest in avoiding the erroneous deprivation of
his pharmacist’s license. See Varandani v. Bowen, 824 F.2d. 307, 310 (4" Cir. 1987) (“the courts
have refused to require anything more than an informal hearing before a doctor is suspended from
Medicare reimbursement in large part because of the interest of Medicare patients in not being
treated by a doctor found by his peers to have engaged in grossly substandard practice.”). See also,
Waltz v. Herlily, 682 F.Supp. 501 (state may summarily suspend physician’s license provided that

adequate post-deprivation remedies are available); Morton v. Beyer, 822 F.2d. 364, 369, n. 11 (public
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“ >employee who poses a significant hazard is not constitutionally entitled to any kind of hearing).
Thus, under these cases, the Respondent was given more process than is due under principles of
constitutional law.

In addition, the Reépondent was given more process than is required under Md. Code .‘%nn.,
State Gov’t Art. §10-226(cj. Under that section, th¢ Board could have suspended the license and
then provided him with the reasons for the suspension afterwards. Instead, the Board chose to give
the Respondent a pre-deprivation hearing and provided him with advance notice prior to taking
action against his license.

For all the foregoing reasons, the Respondent’s motion to dismiss is denied.

4oy Zal ij}%’\'ﬂ-f;» jajfz::,\_\ ,

Date | W. Irving Littier, Jr., P.D.
Secretary, Board of Pharmacy
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-IN THE MATTER OF

* BEFORE THE
BEHROOZ GOODARZI, P.D. - * MARYLAND STATE
LICENSE NO. 10724, * BOARD OF PHARMACY

RESPONDENT : *

* x » * X * * * * * * % ® % * *x *x * * % *® * * * * =

ORDER FOR SUMMAkY SUSPENSION OF LICENSE TO PRACTICE PHARMACY

Pursuant to Md. Code Anﬁ., State Gov't, § 10-226 (c) (2) (1995), the Maryland State
Pharmacy Board (the "Board") hereby suspends the license to practice pharmacy previously issued
to Behrooz Goodarzi, P.D., (the "Respondent"), License No. 10724, under the Maryland Pharmacy
Act, MclT Code Ann., Health Occ. §12-101 et seq. (1994) (the "Act"). This Order is based on the
following information, which the Board has reason to believe is true:

BACKGROUND

1. At all times relevant, Respondent was licensed to practice pharmacy in the State of
Maryland. Respondent was initially licensed April 16, 1986.

2. The Division of Drug Control performed an inspection on March 24, 1999, at the
Melwood Phﬁnnacy located at 9644 Marlboro Pike, Upper Mariboro, Md. 20072. Respondent is the
pharmacist owner of Melwoéd Pharmacy. A follow-up inspection was performed on March 30,
1999.

3. Up;)n inspection the following was noticed:

a) Respondent did not have the required CDS biennial inventory available;

b) the generic manufacturer was not recorded on the prescriptions;

c) the Schédule II drugs were found in a plastic bag on the floor of the pharmacy;

d) there were numerous misbranded products without lot number or expiration dates;




e) there were Sample drugs in violation of 21 U.S.C. 353 (c);

f) liquid medications were stored in soda bottles; |

g) there weré over 525 outdated products, as more fully described below;

h) Respondent was not aware that he should destroy outdated CDS, and DEA form 41 was
provided to him;

i) expiration dates and lot numbers were being covered by the price stickers.

4) The following is a list of outdated products by category’, found in Respondent's
pharmacy on March 24 through 30, 1999: electrolyte supplements, antipsychotics, anti-
hypertensive, antibiotics, antitussives, antihistamines, acid blockers, circulation medications,
Antibuse, pain relievers, Alzheimer management medications, tranquilizers, diuretics, prenatal
vitamins, medicé.tions for the control of obsessive compulsive disorders, anti-inflammatory
creams, steroidals, antigoﬁt products, acne lotion, saliva substitute, progesterone, antibiotic acne
liquid, aspirin/codeine products, antivirals, calcium channel blockers, pain relievers, expectorants,
enemas, ;mti-inﬂammatory medications, sleep aids, pediculacide, UTI medications, vitamins,
urinary antiseptics, antinausea, anti-ulcer, motility agents, anticoagulants, thyroid supplements,
anti-depréssants, muscle relaxants, tuberculosis drugs, antiarrhythmic heart medications,
antidiabetics, asthma medications, oral contraceptives, ear anti-infectives, potassium supplements,
anti-miasthenics, antiseizure products, bulk hormones for compounding, laxatives, Schedule III*

cough suppressant/expectorants, Schedule III pain relievers, Schedule IV tranquilizers, and Doral

1 Attached and incorporated hereto is the inventory of March 24, 1999, and March 30,
1999, prepared by C. Putz of the Division of Drug Control and signed by Respondent.

2 - Some of the products previously listed are scheduled drugs.
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a Schedule IV sedative. In addition to the above, these categories of pediatric specific
medications were found: expectorant/decongestants, numerous antibiotics, cough/cold
preparations, asthma, and pain relievers. A bottle of diethylstilbesterol, with an expiration date of
May, 1994 was also found on the shelf of Respondent's phanﬁacy.

5) Loose pills were also found on Respondent's shelves.

6) The expired products found in Responderit's pharmacy dated back as far as 1987.

7) Respondent's presence of a great amount of pharmaceutical inventory dating back
twelve years, his presence of misbranded product, and his lack of proper storage of controlled
dangerous substances are evidence that Respondent's practice of pharmacy is incompetent and is
therefore contrary to the public health, safety and welfare.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based upon the foregoing, the Board finds that the public health, safety and welfare
imperatively reqﬁires emergency action pursuant to Md. Code Ann., State Gov't §10-226 (c) (2)
(1995). The Board finds that Respondent's conduct violates §§ 12-313 (b) (7) (willfully fails to
file or record any report that is required by law), (16) (violates any provision of § 12-509 of this
title, which concerns the labelling requirements for prescription medicines), (20) (is professionally,
physically, or mentally incompetent).

ORDER

It is therefore, this __ day of April, 1999, by the State Pharmacy Board,

ORDERED, that pursuant to the authority granted the Board by Md. Code Ann., State
Gov't §10-226 (c) (2) (1999), the license of the Respondent, Behrooz Goodarzi, P.D.

(No. 10724), to practice pharmacy in the State of Maryland, be and is hereby SUMMARILY




SUSPENDED; and be it further
ORDERED, upon presentation of this Order for summary suspension, Respondent shall
immediately deliver to the Board, through the Board's executive director or its designee, the

- display, renewal certificate, and wallet-sized license to practice pharmacy previously issued by the

Board; and be it further

ORDERED, that a show cause hearing shall .be scheduled on Tuesday, April 13, 1999,
at 1:30 p.m., at 4201 Patterson Avenue, Baltimore, Maryland 21215 at which the Respondent
will be given an opportunity to be heard on the issues limited to those raised in this Order, that is,
regarding the Respondent's fitness to practice pharmacy and the danger to the public. Any such
hearing wiIl be held before the Board or its designee.

NOTICE OF HEARING

A full evidentiary .heaﬁng will be scheduled before the Board at 4201 Patterson Avenue,
Baltimore, Maryland 21215 upon Respondent's written request. Any such hearing will be
scheduled to be heard by the Board within thirty (30) days of receipt of Respondent's written

request therefor.

Date ' W. Irving Lottier, Jr., P.D.
Secretary, Board of Pharmacy
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